#### Report No. M-CASTL 2010-04



# **DROWSY DRIVING AMONG OLDER ADULTS: A LITERATURE REVIEW**

Nicole Zanier<sup>1</sup>; David W. Eby<sup>1</sup>; J. Todd Arnedt<sup>2</sup>; Lisa J. Molnar<sup>1</sup>; Anita Shelgikar<sup>2</sup>; Renée St. Louis<sup>1</sup>; Toni Antonucci<sup>3</sup>; James S. Jackson<sup>3</sup>; Jacob Nelson<sup>4</sup>; Lindsay Ryan<sup>3</sup>; & Jacqui Smith<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute
 <sup>2</sup> University of Michigan, Department of Neurology
 <sup>3</sup> University of Michigan, Institute for Social Research

<sup>4</sup>AAA National

December, 2010



#### <u>Disclaimer</u>

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

| 1. Report No.<br>M-CASTL 2010-04   | 2. Government Accession No.                    | 3. Recipient's Catalog No.            |  |
|--|--|---------------------------------------|--|
| 4. Title and Subtitle  | I  | 5. Report Date                        |  |
| Drowsy Driving Among Older Adults: A Literature Review   |  | December 2010                         |  |
|  |  | 6. Performing Organization Code       |  |
| 7. Author(s)   |  | 8. Performing Organization Report No. |  |
| Nicole Zanier; David W. Eby; J. Todd Arnedt; Lisa J. Molnar;<br>Anita Shelgikar; Renée St. Louis; Toni Antonucci; James S. |  | M-CASTL 2010-04                       |  |
| Jackson; Jacob Nelson; Li  | ndsay Ryan; & Jacqui Smith                     |                                       |  |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and Address<br>Michigan Center for Advancing Safe Transportation throughout                |  | 10. Work Unit no. (TRAIS)             |  |
| the Lifespan   |  | 11. Contract or Grant No.             |  |
| 2901 Baxter Rd., Room #111,<br>Ann Arbor, MI 48109-2150 U.S.A  |  | F0202371                              |  |
| 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address   |  | 13. Type of Report and Period Covered |  |
| Michigan Center for Advancing Safe Transportation throughout   |  | Interim                               |  |
| the Lifespan   |  | 14. Sponsoring Agency Code            |  |
| 2901 Baxter Rd., Room #1   | 111,   |                                       |  |
| Ann Arbor, MI 48109-215  | 50 U.S.A                                       |                                       |  |
| 15. Supplementary Notes  |  |                                       |  |
| The order of the last five a   | uthors is in alphabetical order.               |                                       |  |
| 16. Abstract   |  |                                       |  |
| 6  | eview are to better understand the risk factor | •                                     |  |
| particularly those strongly  | affecting the older driver population.         | and to serve as the backgroun         |  |

particularly those strongly affecting the older driver population, and to serve as the background information for the development of a questionnaire on this topic. The review is divided into two main sections: drowsy driving risk factors and countermeasures. Topics reviewed in the risk factors section include: sleep deprivation and disorders, medications that may cause drowsiness as a side effect, work schedules, circadian rhythm, personality attributes, alcohol use, lifestyle, and environmental characteristics. Topics reviewed in the countermeasures section included: common practices (e.g. turning up the volume of the radio), caffeine, napping, sleep disorder treatments, lifestyle, work schedules, alertness maintenance and in-vehicle technology. Emphasis was placed on finding studies performed on older drivers, although studies done on younger or middle-aged drivers were not excluded. Sleep disorders and various medical conditions and medications that may cause drowsiness are prevalent in the older population, putting older drivers at an increased risk of a drowsy driving crash. The circadian rhythm creates a risk for those driving between the hours of midnight and 6:00 AM and again in the midafternoon. Unusual work schedules, certain personality traits, alcohol use, and lifestyle practices (e.g. smoking) and monotonous road conditions may all lead to driver sleepiness and crash risk. Common practices to combat drowsy driving such as rolling down a window or turning up the radio's volume are not effective in combating drowsiness. Caffeine intake may help alleviate sleepiness, especially if combined with a short nap. Many non-medication treatments may benefit older adults suffering from sleep disorders or problems, but more research is needed to ascertain whether these treatments increase driving safety. Numerous types of in-vehicle drowsiness-detection technology have been developed to alert drivers before they crash. Overall, more research is needed to further understand drowsy driving risk factors and countermeasures regarding drivers age 65 and older. Findings indicated a strong need for more research on older drivers' crash risk relating to each topic.

| <sup>17.</sup> Key Words<br>Older Driver; Sleepiness; Fatig | 18. Distribution States Unlimited          | 18. Distribution Statement<br>Unlimited |           |
|---|--|---|-----------|
| 19. Security Classification (of this report)                | 20. Security Classification (of this page) | 21. No. of Pages                        | 22. Price |
| Unclassified  | Unclassified                               | 36                                      |           |

## **Table of Contents**

| Introduction                   | . 5 |
|--------------------------------|-----|
| Driver Risk Factors            | 6   |
| Environmental Factors          | 6   |
| Sleep Deprivation              | .7  |
| Sleep Disorders                | . 7 |
| Sleep Apnea                    | 8   |
| Narcolepsy                     | 9   |
| Insomnia                       |     |
| Medical Conditions             | 10  |
| Medications                    |     |
| Benzodiazepines                | 11  |
| Hypnotics                      |     |
| Antihistamines                 |     |
| Antipsychotics                 |     |
| Antidepressants                |     |
| Work Schedules                 |     |
| Circadian Rhythm               |     |
| Personality                    |     |
| Alcohol Use                    |     |
| Lifestyle                      |     |
| Drowsy Driving Countermeasures |     |
| Common Practices               |     |
| Caffeine Consumption & Napping |     |
| Treatments for Sleep Disorders |     |
| Lifestyle                      |     |
| Shift Work Schedule            |     |
| Technology                     |     |
| Forward Collision Warning      |     |
| •                              |     |
| Lane Departure Warning         |     |
| Conclusions<br>References      |     |
| <b>Relef elles</b>             | -4  |

## Introduction

All of us are familiar with the effects of drowsiness (sleepiness): heavy evelids; a nodding head; drifting attention; and a strong desire to go to sleep. These effects can make operating a motor vehicle quite difficult. Indeed, as early as 1931, drowsy driving was identified as a risk factor for motor vehicle crashes (Williams, 1931). Today, drowsy driving is estimated to be responsible for more than 100,000 crashes, 40,000 injuries, and 1,550 deaths per year (National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, NHTSA, n.d.). However, NHTSA and others recognize that drowsy driving is a difficult problem to characterize for a number of reasons. First, crash data files do not accurately or specifically identify the role of drowsiness in crash causation. Second, crash estimates are based on single-vehicle, run-offroad, drift-off-road, or drift-out-of-lane events in which alcohol is not involved, occurring between midnight and 6:00 AM. Third, drowsy driving crashes involving multiple vehicles and daytime drowsy crashes are largely unaccounted for in crash analyses. Indeed, NHTSA's National Survey of Distracted and Drowsy Driving Attitudes and Behavior: 2002 (Royal, 2003) has shown that 72 percent of drivers who admitted to falling asleep while driving reported that they did so outside the window of midnight to 6:00 AM. A more recent study by the National Sleep Foundation (2005) found that 60 percent of adult drivers (168 million people) reported having been drowsy at the wheel, 37 percent (103 million people) having fallen asleep while driving, and 4 percent having been in or had a near crash due to drowsiness while driving. Thus, the crash involvement of drowsy drivers is likely underestimated.

It is also not clear how accurately crash records reflect the drowsy driving risk among older adults (age 65 and older). First, older adults tend to avoid night driving (Eby, Molnar, & Kartje, 2009) and so have fewer nighttime crashes in general. Second, because of declines in critical driving skills resulting from age-related medical conditions, a drowsy-driving crash is more likely to be attributed to declining cognitive, perceptual, or motor skills than to a lack of sleep. In fact, a nationwide study of more than 4,000 drivers found a much smaller difference among age groups than is suggested by the crash records (Royal, 2003). In this survey, 30 percent of drivers age 65 and older reported that they had fallen asleep or nodded off while driving—only slightly less than the percentage across all age groups (37 percent). More research is clearly needed to understand the prevalence, causes, correlates, and associated crash risk of drowsy driving among older adults.

The purpose of this literature review is to synthesize the current literature related to drowsy driving among older adults to support the development of a questionnaire on this topic. We include in this review specific information on older adults as well as general information that can help inform questionnaire development. Note that the literature often uses the terms "fatigue," "drowsy," and "sleepy" interchangeably. In this review, we use the term drowsy driving to cover all three terms. Individuals with obstructive sleep apnea, and possibly other sleep disorders that are known to cause excessive daytime sleepiness, may deny sleepiness and instead describe their primary symptom as fatigue, tiredness, or lack of energy (Chervin, 2000). Sleepiness, regardless of the cause or descriptive term used, causes individuals to be less alert and attentive (Vanlaar, Simpson, Mayhew, & Robertson, 2008). This review covers two general areas with regard to drowsy drivers, each with several topics: driver risk factors

(demographics, sleep disorders, medical conditions, medications, work schedules, circadian rhythm, personality, alcohol use, and lifestyle); and drowsy driving countermeasures (common practices; caffeine consumption; naps; medical treatments; shifting work schedules; technology; lifestyle changes; and medications).

## **Driver Risk Factors**

A number of factors have been found to be associated with an increased risk of drowsy driving and drowsy-driving-related crashes. This section reviews these factors.

#### **Environmental Factors**

Certain types of road and driving conditions may contribute to drowsiness in motorists. The vast majority of drowsiness-related crashes occur in passenger vehicles; the rest mostly occur in large trucks (Lyznicki, Doege, Davis, Williams, & for the Council on Scientific Affairs, 1998). These crashes tend to occur on monotonous roads (Horne & Reyner, 1995). One study found that drowsiness comes about early when driving on monotonous roads and that breaks from the monotony may help to counteract the drowsiness (Thiffault & Bergeron. 2003b). A study on young men age 20-26 found that longer durations of monotonous driving was a risk factor for drowsy driving, with 80 minutes being the limit one can safely drive on a monotonous highway (Ting, Hwang, Doong, & Jeng, 2008). Motorists driving 20,000 or more miles a year, 2 or more hours a day, or in the dark conditions are at increased risk for a drowsy-related crash (Stutts, Wilkins, Osberg, & Vaughn, 2003). Another risk factor is driving alone. A study in New York on drivers who had been in a drowsy driving crash found that 83 percent of drivers were driving alone in the vehicle (McCartt, Ribner, Pack, & Hammer, 1996). This same study found that 40 percent of these crashes took place on an expressway or highway and 48 percent were single, vehicle drive-off-the-road type crashes. A similar study found that 78 percent of sleep-related crashes were drive-off-the-road type (Pack et al., 1995). NHTSA (2006) has reported that young men, shift workers and those with untreated sleep disorders such as sleep appeal and narcolepsy are at the highest risk of experiencing a drowsy driving crash. Other work has supported this result (Pack et al., 1995).

As expected, drivers in drowsiness-related crashes are more likely to indicate that they were sleepy before the crash. A population-based study was done on 571 drivers who had been involved in a crash so severe at least one car occupant needed to be admitted to the hospital. Participants were asked to rate how alert they felt before the crash on the Stanford Sleepiness Scale. Researchers found that those who rated their alertness as 4 or greater on the scale (indicating significant sleepiness) were 11 times more likely to be involved in a crash as those who rated themselves as 1 on the scale (Connor et al., 2002). This study also found that driving after 5 hours of sleep, or driving between the times of 2:00 and 5:00 AM, increased the risk of crash. Excessively and moderately sleepy drivers, with a tendency to fall asleep as measured by the Multiple Sleep Latency Test, are at an increased crash risk compared to alert drivers (Drake et al., 2010).

#### **Sleep Deprivation**

The National Sleep Foundation (2009) estimates that adults need between 7 and 9 hours of sleep each night. Studies have shown that failing to get an adequate amount of sleep can result in reduced driving ability. In one study, drivers sleeping for 5 hours or less were at a significantly increased risk of a crash (Connor et al., 2002). Averaging less than 5 hours of sleep a night increased the risk of a sleep-related crash in North Carolina drivers by nearly five times (Stutts et al., 2003). However, half of 567 drivers surveyed while driving on a summer vacation (mean age 37.7 years) did not get a full night's sleep, with 10 percent not sleeping at all beforehand (Philip et al., 1996) and 88 percent of drivers traveling on a long trip did not sleep an adequate amount the night before departing (Philip et al., 1997). A study of 22 young, healthy males in their early twenties found that those who drove after getting 8.5 hours of sleep had fewer inappropriate lane crossings (535 versus 66) during an on-road driving test than those who only slept 2 hours (Philip et al., 2005). One night of sleep deprivation (4 hours of sleep) increased right edge-line crossings when healthy males (age 25-55) were tested in a driving simulator (Otmani, Pebayle, Roge, & Muzet, 2005). Overall, however, Otmani and colleagues found one night of sleep restriction did not severely impair driving performance, a finding supported by Peters et al. (1995). Peters and colleagues deprived 12 participants (six male, six female, age 26-35) of sleep progressively over the course of 4 days. Four hours of sleep resulted in little changes in crashes, lateral placement of the vehicle and lane departures. However, as sleep deprivation increased, all of these drivingrelated measures increased including the drivers' speed in a 35-mile-per-hour zone. Braking reaction time slowed in sleep-deprived subjects (mean age 29.2 years) who slept for less than 4 hours over those who slept for 8 hours (Miyata et al., 2010). Philip et al. (2004) found young males (age 20-25) have a faster reaction time than older males (age 52-63), when both were well-rested. Yet, in the same study, after 24 hours of sleep deprivation, only the younger drivers experienced significant impairment in reaction time during simulated driving. Forgoing sleep for 17-19 hours produced similar effects on reaction time and other performance tests as a blood alcohol concentration of 0.05 percent (Williamson & Feyer, 2000). Thus, sleep deprivation does negatively impact driving performance and crash risk, but there are clearly individual differences and possibly differences by age.

#### **Sleep Disorders**

Sleep disorders are medical conditions that adversely affect sleep duration, sleep quality, or both. Sleep disorders are common in the general population and in the older adult population. The National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS, 2007) reports that at least 40 million Americans suffer from a serious sleep disorder, the most common being sleep apnea, insomnia, and narcolepsy. The NINDS also reports that an additional 20 million Americans have occasional sleeping trouble. According to a study by the National Institute on Aging, one-half of the 9,000 older adults surveyed reported suffering from sleeping trouble (Foley et al., 1995). The American Academy of Sleep Medicine (2008) reports that one-half of adults age 60 and older suffer from insomnia, 20

percent of people age 80 and older suffer from restless leg syndrome (RLS), and 40 percent of all adults snore which may indicate obstructive sleep apnea. In another study of 430 older drivers age 70 and over, 64 percent reported sleeping trouble, 26 percent reported an abnormal score on the Insomnia Severity Index, 20 percent were at risk for sleep apnea and 60 percent were likely to be drowsy in the afternoon (Vaz Fragoso, Araujo, Van Ness, & Marottoli, 2008). Circadian rhythm sleep disorders, periodic limb movement disorder, and REM sleep-behavior disorder can also cause sleep problems in older adults (Neubauer, 1999).

Sleep disorders among drivers are also common in other populations studied. A large study in France surveyed 35,004 highway drivers about sleep disorders and found that 17 percent reported suffering from at least one sleep disorder and 9 percent experienced drowsiness so intense they had to stop driving (Philip et al., in press). Sleep disorders reported by these French drivers included: obstructive sleep apnea (5 percent), insomnia (9 percent), and narcolepsy/hypersomnia (0.1 percent). Approximately 31 percent of respondents reported a near-crash, with one-half of these being sleep-related. Seven percent of respondents reported being in a crash in the past year, with nearly all of these crashes being related to drowsiness.

These studies confirm that sleep disorders are relatively common among the driving population, particularly among older adults. The next sections provide more detail about a few of the more common sleep disorders, including the relationship of these disorders to crash risk: sleep apnea; narcolepsy; and insomnia.

#### Sleep Apnea

Sleep apnea is a medical condition characterized by repeated complete or partial airway obstructions, which often results in interrupted sleep and daytime sleepiness (National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, 2010). The condition affects at least 18 million Americans according to the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (2007). Studies in controlled, on-road conditions show that drivers with sleep apnea exhibit poor driving performance. For example, a study that compared drivers with sleep apnea to healthy controls found that during an on-road test, the sleep apneics drifted out of their lanes more frequently while driving (Philip et al., 2008). Studies using crashes as the outcome measure have also shown that drivers with sleep apnea are more likely to be involved in a car crash than drivers without sleep apnea (Barbe et al., 1998; Findley, Unverzagt, & Suratt, 1988; Haraldsson, Carenfelt, Diderichsen, Nygren, & Tingvall, 1990; Wu & Yan-Go, 1996). One study found that drivers with obstructive sleep apnea (male, mostly obese, average age 49.3) were involved in more than twice as many car crashes as healthy controls (George, Nickerson, Hanly, Millar, & Kryger, 1987). Another study found that out of 554 drivers (average age 49.2  $\pm$  14.3) suffering from heavy snoring and daytime sleepiness, 39 percent reported excessive sleepiness while driving and 25 percent reported instances of falling asleep while driving (Shiomi et al., 2002). In the same study, 448 drivers were diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome (OSAHS), while 106 were considered to have primary snoring. The frequency of self-reported drowsy-driving crashes increased with increasing sleep apnea severity, with a 4 percent crash rate reported for primary snorers; a 6 percent crash rate for drivers with mild OSAHS, a 10 percent crash rate for drivers with

moderate OSAHS, and an 11 percent rate for drivers classified with severe OSAHS. Other work has found that drivers with moderate to severe sleep apnea syndrome were involved in more crashes than drivers with mild sleep apnea syndrome (Horstmann, Hess, Bassetti, Gugger, & Mathis, 2000). These studies show that sleep apnea is a clear risk factor for decreased driving ability and drowsiness-related crashes and that there is a dose-response relationship between crash risk and disease severity.

#### Narcolepsy

Narcolepsy, a sleep disorder that affects an estimated 1 in every 2,000 Americans, is characterized by sudden sleep attacks, cataplexy, hallucinations, and sleep paralysis (NINDS, 2010). Narcoleptic patients can suffer an attack at any time, including while driving, which creates an obvious crash risk. Narcoleptics exhibit worse driving performance than other drivers, including those with sleep apnea. A study of 16 narcoleptics (nine male, seven female, mean age of  $38\pm19$  years) versus 31 sleep apnea patients (27 male, four female, mean age  $45\pm5.5$  years), and 14 control subjects (11 male, 3 female, mean age  $43\pm15$  years), found that narcoleptics exhibited significantly worse performances on a simulated driving reaction task than the other two groups (Findley, Suratt, & Dinges, 1999). Narcoleptics are also at greater risk for crashes. In one study, narcoleptics were found to have a higher proportion of sleep-related vehicle crashes when compared to drivers with sleep apnea and drivers with other sleep disorders (Aldrich, 1989). A study of 180 narcoleptic patients found that 66 percent reported falling asleep at the wheel and 67 percent reported near crashes due to falling asleep or drowsiness while driving (Broughton et al., 1981). More recent work has found similar results (Findley et al., 1995; Kotterba et al., 2004; Philip et al., in press).

#### Insomnia

Insomnia is defined as difficulty falling or staying asleep and is the most commonly reported sleep disorder, particularly among older adults. Older adults are at an increased risk of being insomniacs with about one-half reporting symptoms of the disorder (Lopez, 2010; Roth, 2007). Given that insomnia disrupts sleep and may cause daytime sleepiness, including while driving, it is related to decreased driving performance and increased incidence of drowsiness-related crashes. Indeed, research shows that older drivers who self-report symptoms of insomnia also report daytime drowsiness and decreased driving abilities, especially at night (Vaz Fragoso et al., 2008). The relationship of insomnia to crash risk, however, is not clear. A study in France found very little difference in driving crashes (9 percent versus 10 percent) and near-crashes (5 percent versus 4 percent) between insomniacs and controls (Leger, Guilleminault, Bader, Levy, & Paillard, 2002). Similar findings were reported in a Canadian study (Daley et al., 2009), which found little difference in motor vehicle crash rates between participants with insomnia, insomnia symptoms but not a definitive diagnosis, and those who considered themselves good sleepers. However, this same study found that of the 33 participants who had been in a motor vehicle crash, eight reported that insomnia was the main cause of the crash. Thus, there is some evidence that insomnia increases crash risk but the evidence is mixed. Further research is needed.

#### **Medical Conditions**

A variety of medical conditions can also result in sleepiness that could compromise driving ability. There are too many conditions to cover exhaustively here. Instead we discuss some of the more common conditions. For example, people with Parkinson's Disease (PD) or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are at risk for daytime drowsiness and, therefore, drowsy driving. Insomnia and restless leg syndrome are commonly reported by patients with PD and could contribute to complaints of daytime sleepiness (Haq, Naidu, Reddy, & Chaudhuri, 2010). A questionnaire completed by 6,620 patients with PD found that 82 percent still had a driver's license, and of those drivers who experienced the sudden onset of sleep while driving, 27 percent reported a near-crash and 28 percent reported an actual crash (Meindorfner et al., 2005). In PD patients, the sudden onset of sleep behind the wheel was associated with older age, being male, longer disease duration, and the use of dopamine agonists (Ondo et al., 2001). Research has shown that drivers with ADHD may become sleepier in a shorter period of time than do drivers without this condition, as they were found likelier to crash in a driving simulator (Reimer, D'Ambrosio, Coughlin, Fried, & Biederman, 2007).

A number of other medical conditions have been linked to sleep problems and daytime drowsiness. Conditions such as cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, neurologic and pulmonary disease may also cause sleep problems in older adults, as can psychiatric disorders, circadian rhythm sleep disorders, periodic limb movement disorder, and REM sleep behavior disorder (Neubauer, 1999). Individuals age 65 and older suffering from a neurological disorder were more likely to fail a standardized road test (Classen et al., 2008). A number of studies have found associations between medical conditions and sleep problems including: HIV/AIDS; rheumatoid arthritis; lung disease; untreated asthma; heartburn; renal disease; depression and anxiety disorder; chronic pain; Lyme disease; menopause; ulcers; obesity; heart disease; migraines; diabetes; stroke osteoporosis; and cancer (Bixler et al., 2005; Bourguignon, Labyak, & Taibi, 2003; Foley, Ancoli-Israel, Britz, & Walsh, 2004; Nokes, Chidekel, & Kendrew, 1999; Ohayon, Caulet, Philip, Guilleminault, & Priest, 1997; Parish, 2009; Stroe et al., 2010; van Mill, Hoogendijk, Vogelzangs, van Dyck, & Penninx, 2010; Vgontzas et al., 1998).

#### Medications

Many medications can cause drowsiness. Since medication use among older adults is high, the potential side effect of drowsiness is worrisome. A US study of noninstutionalized older adults found that more than 90 percent take at least one medication per week (Gurwitz, 2004). The study also found that polypharmacy was common among older adults, with more than 40 percent using five or more prescription drugs per week and 12 percent using 10 or more drugs per week.

Several classes of medications have been studied to assess their effects on an individual's ability to operate a motor vehicle. For example, Baldock et al. (2005) examined the effect of medication use on driving ability in a sample of 104 drivers age 60 to 92 and found that 60

percent of participants used at least one prescription medication per month and 83 percent suffered from at least one medical condition. Of the 104 drivers, only 44 were taking medications that might impair driving by affecting the central nervous system (CNS). Most of these medications were used to treat depression, heart problems, hypertension, ulcers and acid reflux. To test whether the medication impacted the participants' driving performance, 90 drivers completed an on-road driving assessment, resulting in 76 percent passing, 9 percent passing but being identified as needing lessons, and 16 percent failing. The researchers' general conclusion was that medications that may impair driving were related to driving ability, but not significantly. They also found that the number of medications one is taking does not significantly affect driving ability. Stutts et al. (2003) found 8 percent of drivers in a sleep-related crash reported using medication that could cause drowsiness.

The most common classes of medications that may put one at risk for drowsy driving after use include benzodiazepines, antihistamines, antidepressants and antipsychotics. The following sections examine these drug classes and their effect on driving ability in further detail.

#### **Benzodiazepines**

Benzodiazepines are among the most common prescription medications available. Fifteen different types of medication in this class exist and around 100 million prescriptions were written in 1999 (US Drug Enforcement Administration, n.d.). Benzodiazepines are generally used to treat anxiety, muscle spasms, insomnia, and seizures (Jones, Shinar, & Walsh, 2003; Ray, Thapa, & Shorr, 1993).

Commonly prescribed benzodiazepines with long half-lives include diazepam (more commonly known as Valium), flurazepam, and lorazepam. All have consistently been found to impair driving performance, especially during the morning after ingestion and sometimes into the afternoon (Moskowitz & Smiley, 1982; O'Hanlon, Haak, Blaauw, & Riemersma, 1982). O'Hanlon et al. (1982) noted, however, that it may be possible for patients to adapt to long-term treatment of benzodiazepines, which may reduce the drug's effect on driving performance.

The relationship between benzodiazepine use and impairment of driving performance has been thoroughly studied (see Berghaus & Grass, 1997; Ray et al., 1993; Wilkinson & Moskowitz, 2001). The more than 500 experimental studies on this topic show consistent results: driving performance declines with increased levels of benzodiazepines. Although short half-life benzodiazepines are eliminated faster, they can still be dangerous. O'Hanlon (1992) cited several studies that have found that short half-life benzodiazepines impair driving performance.

Unlike the literature on driving performance, the literature investigating the associations between benzodiazepines and actual crash risk is more limited. Studies with young drivers have generally shown that benzodiazepines increase the risk of a crash (summarized in Ray et al., 1993). Studies with older drivers have found similar results (Hemmelgarn, Suissa, Huang, Jean-Francois, & Pinard, 1997; McGwin, Sims, Pulley, & Roseman, 2000; Neutel,

1995; Ray, Fought, & Decker, 1992; Sims, McGwin, Allman, Ball, & Owsley, 2000). A study in the US, for example, found a 50 percent increase in crash risk among older people who used benzodiazepines (Ray et al., 1992). A Canadian study found that within the first week of using benzodiazepines, there was a 45 percent increased crash risk among older adults who took long half-life benzodiazepines (Hemmelgarn et al., 1997). Crash risk decreased after the first week of use, but still remained 26 percent higher than controls, even after a year of continuous use. Interestingly, for older adults who took short half-life benzodiazepines, no increased crash risk was found. A study of older adults in Alabama found that as compared to control drivers, those taking benzodiazepines were more than five times as likely to be in an at-fault crash (McGwin et al., 2000). Collectively, this body of literature suggests that: (1) older adults taking benzodiazepines are at a higher risk of a crash and should avoid driving for several hours after dosage; and (2) for older adults who drive, only short half-life benzodiazepines should be prescribed, if possible.

#### **Hypnotics**

Hypnotic drugs are often taken to treat insomnia. One study of the hypnotic drugs zolpiclone and zolpidem found that these drugs did not significantly impair the driving ability of people age 55 to 65, as tested in a driving simulator (Meskali, Berthelon, Marie, Denise, & Bocca, 2009). The study, however, did note a slight increase in collisions and poorer lane positioning among drivers taking zolpidem compared to zopiclone. The driving effects of the insomnia medications temazepam (a benzodiazepine) and zopiclone (a non-benzodiazepine hypnotic) were tested on a group of older drivers on the morning after a bedtime administration of the drugs (Leufkens & Vermeeren, 2009). Unexpectedly, the study found that driving was significantly impaired in only those drivers who took the shorter acting zopiclone. In a different study, the effects of the insomnia-treating medications zolpidem and temazepam (versus placebo) on driving ability were assessed among 18 women age 35-58 (Partinen, Hirvonen, Hublin, Halavaara, & Hiltunen, 2003). Participants were administered a drug at 2:00 AM and were tested in a driving simulator at 7:30 AM. Results showed that the drugs did not significantly affect driving ability, although two non-placebo drivers recorded a high number of collisions, and those who took zolpidem had slightly more lane deviations when compared to subjects in the temazepam and placebo groups.

#### Antihistamines

Antihistamines are medications most often used to treat allergies. Many of the older (first and second generation) antihistamines available are known to cause drowsiness, whereas newer (third generation) antihistamines are often marketed as being "non-drowsy" (American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, 2010). Antihistamines are widely available over-the-counter (OTC).

Research shows that the sleep-inducing and sedative properties of this class of drugs may impair driving ability (Verster & Volkerts, 2004). Research on a common OTC second generation antihistamine found that it impaired driving performance for 2-3 hours after taking the medication (Gengo, Gabos, & Miller, 1989; Nakra, Gfeller, & Hassan, 1992; Ray et al., 1993). Non drowsy/sedative antihistamines do not impair cognitive or psychomotor

performance (Nicholson, 1986) and do not appear to affect the ability to drive an automobile (Betts, Markman, Debenham, Mortiboy, & McKevitt, 1984).

The relationship between sedation-inducing antihistamines and crash risk has not been firmly established. Studies that have attempted to determine the effect of this type of antihistamine on crash risk among older drivers have found that past users showed a slightly increased risk for an injurious motor vehicle crash, compared to non users (Leveille et al., 1994). However, antihistamines were not found to increase crash risk among the older adults in another study (Ray et al., 1992).

#### **Antipsychotics**

Antipsychotics are medications used to treat schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders. This class of drugs may cause drowsiness; patients taking these types of medications are advised not to drive until they have become accustomed to the drug (National Institute of Mental Health, 2008). Limited research has addressed the effects of antipsychotic medications on driving ability. One study of fatal crashes found a very low incidence (2 of 800) of antipsychotic medication in deceased drivers (Judd, 1985). Another study used a driving simulator to assess the driving ability of schizophrenic who were taking antipsychotic medicine (Wylie, Thompson, & Wildgust, 1993). When 22 schizophrenic drivers were compared to 16 healthy control drivers, drivers with schizophrenia performed significantly worse on brake reaction time and responding to a red light. The researchers noted that it was unclear if driving decrements resulted from the medication or the underlying psychiatric illness.

#### Antidepressants

Antidepressants may help improve quality of sleep, although side effects may include tiredness and sleep disruption (MedlinePlus, 2010). There are various categories of antidepressant medications, related to their mechanism of action including serotonin-specific reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs;), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-Is), tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), and newer serotonion-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (Internet Drug News Inc., 2007). There are also newer antidepressants that inhibit the uptake of both serotonin and norepinephrine (SNRIs). Antidepressants can also be classified by whether or not they produce sedation as a side effect. Susceptibility to sedation as a side effect may increase with age (Sanders, 1986).

Use of sedating antidepressants is consistently associated with deterioration in a wide variety of vehicle-handling skills (Clayton, Harvey, & Betts, 1977; Hindmarch, 1988; Ramaekers, 2003; Seppala, Linnoila, Elonen, Mattila, & Maki, 1975; Smiley, 1987). For example, utilizing an in-traffic driving test, sedating antidepressants significantly impaired lateral position control and speed control compared to a placebo (Louwerens, Brookhuis, & O'Hanlon, 1984). Non-sedating antidepressants typically do not impair driving skills, except possibly at high doses (Lococo & Staplin, 2006; Ray et al., 1993; Walsh, de Gier, Christopherson, & Verstraete, 2004; Wilkinson & Moskowitz, 2001).

Studies have also found that sedating antidepressants increase crash risk among older adults (Leveille et al., 1994; Ray et al., 1992). In two studies, older adults with current prescriptions of sedating tricyclic antidepressants had more than twice the risk for injury-crashes, compared to older adults without these prescriptions (Leveille et al., 1994; Ray et al., 1992). A strong dose-response effect has also been found, with crash risk increasing as dosage levels of the drug increased. In one study, older drivers with high-dose prescriptions had nearly three times the risk for injury crashes, compared with nonusers (Leveille et al., 1994). Another study of older drivers found that the crash risk associated with taking 125 mg of amitriptyline (a popular sedating tricyclic antidepressant) daily resulted in five times the crash risk associated with a dosage of 25 mg of amitriptyline (Ray et al., 1992).

#### Work Schedules

Several studies have found that the type of job one holds, as well as the schedule and hours worked, can have an effect on driving ability. The National Sleep Foundation (2010) states that working over 60 hours a week increases crash risk by 40 percent. In a survey of 1,000 New York residents, respondents who reported a strenuous work life, including working extra hours and varying shifts, were more likely to report drowsy driving in the previous year (McCartt et al., 1996). Similarly, a survey of 1,366 Greek drivers, ranging in age from 19-65 years, also found that working extra hours and varying shifts increased crash risk (Gnardellis, Tzamalouka, Papadakaki, & Chliaoutakis, 2008).

Shift work (i.e. working hours and shifts outside the standard workday) is considered a risk factor for drowsy driving. Those entering into shift work from a standard work day increase their risk of sleep problems, as well as their risk of falling asleep at work (Akerstedt, Nordin, Alfredsson, Westerholm, & Kecklund, 2010). A New York study found night-shift and rotating-shift workers were likely to be sleep-deprived (<6 hours sleep) and at a greater risk for a car crash (Ohayon, Smolensky, & Roth, 2010). Scott et al. (2007) found that, out of a sample of 895 nurses, 596 reported driving drowsy at least once over a span of 4 weeks, and 30 said they drove drowsy following every shift. These nurses doubled and tripled their risk of drowsy driving by working shifts longer than 12.5 hours or experiencing drowsiness while on the job, respectively. Night-shift nurses were also at an increased risk, with 136 of 171 nurses driving drowsy at least once over the 4 week study period. Findings from a study on interns showed that each extended shift worked increased the intern's crash risk by 9.1 percent and his or her monthly risk of crashing during the drive home by 16.2 percent; interns working five or more extended shifts per month significantly increased their risk of falling asleep at the wheel (Barger et al., 2005). House staff workers on-call every fourth night experienced more occurrences of falling asleep while stopped at a traffic light and falling asleep while driving than faculty members undisturbed at night (Marcus & Loughlin, 1996). This study found 49 percent of the house staff subjects to have fallen asleep at the wheel, with 90 percent of these occurrences happening post-call.

Drowsy driving may be a particularly salient issue for commercial drivers, who also work extended shifts at varying times across the 24-hour day. McCartt et al. (2000) interviewed 593 commercial truck drivers at truck stops to inquire about drowsy driving. Of the 593 truck

drivers, 61.3 percent reported driving at least 100,000 miles annually, 79.6 percent reported trips that lasted 3 days or more, and 70.5 percent a schedule that changed daily. When asked about falling asleep while driving, 47.1 percent said they had, with 25.4 percent reporting that it happened at least once in the last year. According to this study, older truck drivers were at an increased risk of a drowsy driving crash. Not all studies of older commercial vehicle drivers agree. A detailed literature review of drowsiness-related crashes among commercial vehicle drivers reported that when compared to young drivers, older drivers were found to be safer in some studies, less safe in others, and not different from younger drivers in other studies (Duke, Guest, & Boggess, 2010). In another study of male heavy goods commercial vehicle drivers age 20-60, snoring at night (a symptom of obstructive sleep apnea), obesity, large neck size, and higher Epworth Sleepiness Scale scores were associated with increased risk of a crash (Maycock, 1997). A study of 154 bus drivers found that 14 percent experienced sleepiness while driving on a regular basis, 33 percent sometimes experienced sleepiness, and 77 percent reported they felt so sleepy they had to stop driving at least one time (van den Berg & Landström, 2006). Respondents reported that sleepiness came about during early morning hours (3:00 AM and 6:00 AM) and at the end of a long trip. The drivers reported that lack of sleep, sleep quality and work hours were the most significant causes of sleepiness (van den Berg & Landström, 2006). A survey of 4,331 commercial bus and truck drivers found that 33 percent of crashes were related to drowsy driving (Leechawengwongs, Leechawengwongs, Sukying, & Udomsubpayakul, 2006). The study also reported that 75 percent of drivers reported drowsy driving, 28 percent reported micro sleeps while driving, and 45 percent experienced EDS. Studies have also addressed the causes of drowsiness among commercial drivers. In a study of 2,342 commercial drivers, 60 percent reported probable sleep-disorders and another 16 percent reported diagnosed sleep apnea (Howard et al., 2004). Other drivers reported shifting schedules, use of antihistamines, and use of analgesics as the cause of sleepiness.

#### Circadian Rhythm

Circadian rhythm refers to the body's internal rhythms that are roughly 24 hours in length (National Institute of General Medical Sciences, 2010). The body's master clock, located in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) of the anterior hypothalamus, modulates several of these rhythms, including sleepiness and alertness. Attempting to perform during a time when one's circadian rhythm is signaling that the body should be sleeping could be a risk factor for a drowsiness-related crash. As people age, the circadian rhythm tends to change, with older people going to bed and waking earlier. Indeed, drowsy driving crashes are more frequent at night, but also occur at other times. A survey of US drivers found that drowsiness behind the wheel occurred between the hours of 6:00 AM and 5:00 PM for 35 percent of drivers, while 28 percent felt drowsy between 12:00 AM and 6:00 AM, and 17 percent between 5:00 PM and 9:00 PM (Royal, 2003). A study of English drivers found drowsy driving crashes to be highest in the mid-afternoon and in the early morning between 2:00 and 3:00 AM (Horne & Reyner, 1995). A study in North Carolina found that drivers in sleep-related crashes were more likely to report driving between 12:00 AM and 6:00 AM (Stutts et al., 2003). Other work in New York found that 60 percent of drivers who were in drowsy driving crashes had their crash between the hours of 11:00 PM and 7:00 AM (McCartt et al., 1996). Studies that

have considered older adults, however, find that this age group tends to have drowsinessrelated crashes in the mid-afternoon rather than at night (Horne & Reyner, 1999; Pack et al., 1995; Summala & Mikkola, 1994). This is not surprising given that older adults tend to do most of their driving during the daytime.

#### Personality

An individual's personality traits may increase his or her likelihood of experiencing daytime sleepiness. Mastin et al. (2005) found neuroticism to be linked with higher self-reported feelings of sleepiness and poorer performance on a behavioral task. Other work has shown that sleep-deprived extraverts became more impaired than sleep-deprived introverts on a cognitive vigilance task (Smith & Maben, 1993).

There is also some evidence that a person's personality may affect the likelihood of a drowsy driving crash. For example, one study of 26 people age 22-55 assessed driving performance in a driving simulator to assess driving performance, drowsiness, and personality (Verwey & Zaidel, 2000). Participants drove for 135 minutes on a simulated two-lane highway at night with light traffic. The participants completed a questionnaire prior to the simulated driving test that included questions about medication use, driving experience and behavior, and personality. None of the participants used medication that might affect driving, and they were not allowed to consume coffee or alcohol prior to the driving test. The researchers measured eye-closures (a measure of drowsiness) and lane/road departures. The study found that participants who were categorized as having an extraversion-boredom personality trait showed more drowsiness and had significantly more road departures than those who were classified as introverted. Other work has also found that extraverts may be more likely to be in drowsy driving crashes (e.g. Thiffault & Bergeron, 2003a; Wijesuriya, Tran, & Craig, 2007)

#### Alcohol Use

The dangers of alcohol use and driving are well known. What is less well-known is that drowsiness can produce decrements in driving ability that are similar to the effects of alcohol (Powell et al., 2001). For example, forgoing sleep for 18.5 or 21 hours has produced the same types of driving performance decrements as blood alcohol concentrations (BAC) of 0.05 and 0.08 percent (Arnedt, Wilde, Munt, & MacLean, 2001; Fairclough & Graham, 1999). Drowsiness combined with alcohol use can greatly reduce driving ability. Driving ability has been shown to decrease in sleep-deprived subjects after they ingest alcohol (Arnedt, Wilde, Munt, & MacLean, 2000; Horne, Reyner, & Barrett, 2003). Among a survey of 2,335 drivers, males with a BAC of 0.001g- 0.049g percent felt sleepier than those with a BAC 0.05g percent or greater or those who had not ingested any alcohol (Wilson, Fang, Cooper, & Beirness, 2006). Low doses of ethanol combined with sleep deprivation (4 hours of sleep) increased sleepiness, reaction time, and driver impairment in young men 21-35 years old (Roehrs, Beare, Zorick, & Roth, 1994). Alcohol has been found to affect sleepiness especially in the early afternoon (i.e. 1:10 p.m.) versus in the early evening in young women

(Horne & Baumber, 1991). Even without sleep deprivation, ingesting even small quantities of alcohol in the afternoon can be dangerous, particularly if one is sleep-deprived. One study found that sleep deprivation plus alcohol resulted in greater decline in driving performance than either one alone and that drivers did not always realize how much sleepier they had become due to alcohol consumption (Horne et al., 2003).

#### Lifestyle

The lifestyle one leads could influence the likeliness of driving drowsy. For example, Papadakaki et al. (2008) surveyed 1,366 Greeks age 19-65 years, and found that married people, women, experienced drivers, and older drivers were less likely to drive drowsy. The same study found that those whose lifestyles included "amusement", "sports" and being a "workaholic" were more prone to drowsy driving, daytime sleepiness, and getting less sleep at night. The researchers also found lifestyle practices relating to "religion" (i.e. fasting, going to church, etc) were associated with a lesser risk of drowsy driving. Philip et al. (2010) also found that unmarried people were at increased risk for drowsy driving. The 2003 *Sleep and Aging* poll found older adults who exercised less than once a week were more likely to suffer from a sleep disorder, sleep trouble, and daytime sleepiness (National Sleep Foundation, 2010). Smoking tobacco was also found to be a risk factor for excessive daytime sleepiness (Bixler et al., 2005).

## **Drowsy Driving Countermeasures**

In response to the long-time recognition that drowsy driving is a risk factor for crashes (Williams, 1931), several countermeasures have been developed to alleviate the problem. These countermeasures have met with varied success. Here we review some commonly used countermeasures for drowsy driving.

#### **Common Practices**

People report engaging in a number practices believed to help keep them awake when they are experiencing drowsiness while driving. In one survey of 750 drivers, the most commonly reported practices to combat drowsiness were rolling down a window and listening to the radio, while the least reported practice was taking a rest (Vanlaar et al., 2008). A different survey of more than 3,000 drivers found that people reported the following practices: stopping to take a walk (54 percent); turning on the stereo (52 percent); opening a window (47 percent); drinking coffee (45 percent); and talking to vehicle passengers (35 percent)(Anund, Kecklund, Peters, & Akerstedt, 2008). This same study also found that older drivers were more likely to report measures such as stopping for a nap or to get coffee. Although these practices are very common, many do not improve the driving performance of a drowsy driver (see e.g., Reyner & Horne, 1998).

#### **Caffeine Consumption & Napping**

Caffeine intake and/or napping can help fight drowsiness and may be helpful to counteracting sleepiness behind the wheel. In response to one survey, experts in the fields of driving, fatigue, and traffic safety chose measures such as letting a passenger drive for a few hours while one naps and stopping to nap for an hour or more as the most recommended to combat driver fatigue (Nguyen, Jauregui, & Dinges, 1998). Following these, the study respondents recommended stopping for a 30-45 minute nap, stopping for a 10-20 minute nap, stopping to consume caffeine and talking to a passenger. Caffeine has been shown to improve simulated driving ability in young adults (Biggs et al., 2007). Slow-release caffeine has been shown to decrease driving errors (i.e. lane drifting, crashes) made by young (age 20-25) sleep-deprived drivers (De Valck & Cluydts, 2001). However, caffeine effects have been shown to be short-lived (Reyner & Horne, 2000). In this study, the authors found that 200 mg of caffeine decreased young drivers' sleepiness for about 30 minutes if they were not sleep-deprived and only for about 2 hours if they were sleep-deprived. Other work has shown that caffeine intake could even improve wakefulness and reaction times following alcohol use (Liguori & Robinson, 2001). Caffeine combined with a short nap may be even more effective in decreasing daytime drowsiness (Hayashi, Masuda, & Hori, 2003). Afternoon sleepiness while driving was found to be reduced by 200 mg of caffeine and eliminated by caffeine consumption plus a 30 minute nap (Reyner & Horne, 1997). Energy drinks (which contain caffeine) may also be useful in counteracting drowsiness while driving. When young, sleep-restricted drivers were given 500 ml of an energy drink, they committed fewer lane crossing errors in simulated driving than before consuming the energy drink (Horne & Reyner, 2001). Although this research shows that caffeine may be beneficial for counteracting drowsy driving in some circumstances, caffeine can also disrupt and decrease the quality of sleep when consumed too close to bedtime (Drapeau et al., 2006).

#### **Treatments for Sleep Disorders**

Given that untreated sleep disorders increase the likelihood of a drowsy driving crash, proper treatment of these conditions will likely reduce drowsy driving. A telephone interview of 50 drivers with sleep apnea found that treatment with nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nasal CPAP) reduced the number of automobile crashes that patients experienced (Findley, Smith, Hooper, Dineen, & Suratt, 2000). Researchers have estimated that treating sleep apnea with CPAP can potentially save 1,000 lives and prevent more than 500,000 crashes per year (Sassani et al., 2004). Patients with obstructive sleep apnea were found to have significantly improved driving performance after treatment with CPAP (George, Boudreau, & Smiley, 1997). Taking a 2-hour nap was found to only temporarily improve alertness in narcoleptic patients (Helmus et al., 1997). Severe narcoleptics already being treated with medication may find further symptomatic benefit from the addition of scheduled daytime naps in reducing their daytime drowsiness (Rogers, Aldrich, & Lin, 2001). The drug modafinil may reduce excessive daytime sleepiness in narcoleptics (Golicki, Bala, Niewada, & Wierzbicka, 2010) and the risk of RLS patients suddenly falling asleep may be decreased by dopaminergic medications (Möller et al., 2006). A survey of 24 RLS patients taking

pramipexole, a dopamine agonist, found that none of the treated patients experienced sleep attacks, although 11 did report ongoing daytime drowsiness (Stiasny, Möller, & Oertel, 2000). A review of RLS found the sudden onset of sleep in RLS patients due to dopaminergic medications to be low or not experienced in three studies (Earley & Silber, 2010). Although certain medications and good sleep hygiene may reduce the likelihood of daytime drowsiness in patients with narcolepsy and restless leg syndrome, further research is needed to determine whether these treatments improve the patients' driving performance. Insomnia causes difficulty with sleep initiation or maintenance, which can result in daytime drowsiness, potentially leading to drowsy driving. With treatment, individuals with insomnia may be able to get better sleep and counteract their daytime drowsiness. However, as previously discussed, the potential medication side effect of sedation must be considered when pharmacologic treatment for insomnia is prescribed. In one study, eszopiclone improved the sleep of subjects with insomnia without impairing driving ability (Boyle, Trick, Johnsen, Roach, & Rubens, 2008). Older adult sufferers of insomnia may benefit from keeping a "sleep diary" to keep track of sleep duration, quality of sleep and related factors (Roszkowska & Geraci). With this sleep diary, the authors believed that older patients could improve their sleep hygiene (e.g. avoiding heavy meals near bedtime) and hence reduce their symptoms of insomnia. Good sleep hygiene and 45 minutes of morning bright light treatment were found to help older adult sufferers of insomnia (Kirisoglu & Guilleminault, 2004). Though these non-medication treatments of insomnia have shown to improve older adults' quality of sleep, further research is needed to determine whether these approaches translate to increased road safety.

#### Lifestyle

An individual's daily lifestyle can influence his or her likelihood of drowsy driving. Maintaining a set sleep schedule and refraining from nicotine, alcohol, meals, and exercise before bedtime are lifestyle practices that can help reduce sleep deprivation and drowsiness (Kushida, 2006). An active lifestyle could lead to better sleep in older adults, and in turn, a decreased risk of drowsy driving. A study of 741 men and 365 women diagnosed with sleep apnea, showed that lack of exercise was associated with increased excessive daytime sleepiness (Basta et al., 2008). A study of physically active versus sedentary older women showed that those women active in walking and dancing four times a week or more experienced a longer, better quality and less disturbed night's sleep (de Castro Toledo Guimaraes, de Carvalho, Yanaguibashi, & do Prado, 2008). Further studies found that older adults with mild sleep problems can benefit from low to moderate exercise regimens (King, Oman, Brassington, Bliwise, & Haskell, 1997; Li et al., 2004), and in older adults suffering from insomnia, aerobic exercise may help improve their sleep (Reid et al., 2010). Music may help as well, as a study in Taiwan of 60 adults age 60-83 found listening to soothing music at bedtime improved sleep quality (Lai & Good, 2005). Good sleep hygiene, exercise and soothing music may increase sleep quality, however, more research is needed to determine whether these tactics may reduce the risk of a drowsy driving crash.

#### Shift Work Schedule

Those with a non-traditional work schedule may be able to reduce drowsiness by sleeping at opportune times (such as late night, early morning, or in the afternoon), shortening shifts, eliminating double shifts, or rotating schedules from night to day (Caldwell, 2001). However, in another study, taking a 40-minute mid-shift nap break at 3:00 AM did not improve medical staff's simulated driving ability after their shift over those who did not nap (Smith-Coggins et al., 2006). However, ingesting caffeine combined with a nap helped those working a night-shift (Schweitzer, Randazzo, Stone, Erman, & Walsh, 2006). A review of the literature on shift and night work found that countermeasures such as bright light therapy and melatonin can help adjust the circadian rhythm; the use of hypnotics (e.g. zopiclone) and/or physical exercise can help improve sleep quality; a quick nap or ingesting caffeine before a night shift can help increase alertness and performance (Pallesen et al., 2010).

Nurses often work demanding schedules that can produce daytime drowsiness. A program for reducing daytime drowsiness among nurses was recently evaluated (Scott, Hofmeister, Rogness, & Rogers, 2010). Forty-seven nurses participated in the program, which educated them on the topics of sleep loss and deprivation, enhancing sleep quality, and the use of naps and caffeine. The program succeeded in reducing daytime drowsiness and improving sleep quality, sleep duration, and alertness.

Countermeasures to help sleepiness in professional drivers have also been studied. For example, a 3-hour afternoon nap improved alertness in long-haul nighttime professional drivers (Macchi, Boulos, Ranney, Simmons, & Campbell, 2002). Leger et al. (2009) found that bright light pulses and naps benefitted shift work drivers, reducing their drowsiness while driving. Other work found bright lights to decrease nighttime workers sleepiness (Sadeghniiat-Haghighi, Yazdi, Jahanihashemi, & Aminian, 2010). Exercise may also be effective in enhancing nighttime workers' alertness (Sato et al., 2010).

#### Technology

A number of technological countermeasures that could impact the drowsy driving problem have been developed. Broadly, these technologies fall into three categories: drowsy driver detection; alertness maintenance; and crash warning systems. Drowsy driver detection technologies are a class of devices designed to detect and warn when a driver is becoming dangerously sleepy behind the wheel. The main challenge with these systems is being able to automatically determine when a driver is drowsy. As described in a recent review (May & Baldwin, 2009), a number of methods have been used with varying success including: frequency of eye blinks and other eye movements (Adachi et al., 2007; Akerstedt, Ingre, et al., 2010; Dinges & Grace, 1998; Grace, 2001; Verwey & Zaidel, 2000; Wierwille, Lewin, & Fairbanks, 1996); head nodding (Hartley, Horberry, Mabbott, & Krueger, 2000); deadman switches (Ogilvie, Wilkinson, & Allison, 1989); pulse rate (Hirata, Nishiyama, & Kinoshita, 2009; Hu, Bowlds, Gu, & Yu, 2009); electroencephalogram (EEG) (Rimini-Doering, Altmueller, Ladstaetter, & Rossmeier, 2005); and driver behavior, particularly measures of time-to-lane crossing (Verwey & Zaidel, 2000). Based on their synthesis of the literature, May and Balwin (2009) concluded that eye closure and lane crossing were the most useful measures for the early detection of drowsy driving, although some work shows that EEG detection may be promising (Rimini-Doering et al., 2005).

Alertness maintenance technology is designed to increase driver alertness by increasing the overall demands of driving without disrupting the primary task of safely operating the vehicle (Oron-Gilad, Ronen, & Shinar, 2008). These technologies can either work in combination with drowsy driver detection technology or be engaged at the driver's discretion. A number of experimental systems have been developed. For example, Verway and Zaidel (1999) developed and evaluated a "gamebox" device where drivers could play simple games by interacting with the device via speech. In a simulator study, the researchers found that while traveling long distances, those using the device reported less drowsiness and experienced few driving crashes compared to controls. A study in California addressed the effectiveness of an interactive language learning system on helping drowsy drivers stay awake (Takayama & Nass, 2008). The driving simulator study found that the system reduced drowsiness, but only in the condition when the system was interactive. Recent work from Israel has addressed the effectiveness of alertness maintaining tasks (Gershon, Ronen, Oron-Gilad, & Shinar, 2009; Oron-Gilad et al., 2008). These researchers have tried several types of tasks including: interactive trivia; choice reaction time; and working memory. The researchers found that the choice reaction and working memory tasks were neither effective at reducing drowsiness nor liked by the drivers. The trivia task, on the other hand, was found to prevent driving performance decrements, increased arousal, increase alertness, and was liked by the drivers. The benefits, however, were only found when the driver engaged in the task. None of these tasks have been tested specifically with older drivers.

Crash warning system technology can also positively impact drowsy driving by preventing crashes that result from drowsiness. These technologies use radars and cameras positioned around the vehicle to determine the locations of other traffic and lane pavement markings. When a potentially hazardous situation arises, the system warns the driver. More advanced systems not only warn the driver, but also take over partial control of the vehicle's operation to avoid the hazard. For example, the 2008 models of the Volvo S80, V70 and XC70 have a crash warning system with "auto brake;" that is, the system will detect an impending forward collision and apply the brakes for the driver if he or she fails to do so. There are two main crash warning systems that seem particularly useful for drowsy driving: forward collision warning and lane departure warning systems.

#### Forward Collision Warning

Forward collision warning systems use forward radar sensors to determine the distance between cars. When this distance begins to get too small, the system will warn the driver using some signal (usually a combination of a light and sound) and, in some systems, take over partial control of the vehicle. Studies have investigated the safety benefits of forward collision warning systems by placing drivers in simulated conditions where vehicles appeared suddenly in front of them (Cotté, Meyer, & Coughlin, 2001; Kramer, Cassavaugh, Horrey, Becic, & Mayhugh, 2007; Maltz & Shinar, 2004). These studies found that: driver acceptance was high when the system did not give too many false alarms (giving alerts when they were not appropriate); older drivers were more forgiving of false alarms; older drivers benefited as much as or more than younger drivers; and older participants drove more slowly than younger drivers and maintained longer headways from the next vehicle. In a test-track study, Dingus et al.(1997) found that older drivers maintained longer headways when compared to young drivers. The headways for older drivers did not change as false alarms increased, indicating that older drivers were more tolerant of false alarms. The largest field operational test to date on forward collision warnings system use was conducted by the University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute (UMTRI) and General Motors Corporation (Ervin et al., 2005). In this study, 96 people were given vehicles with a forward collision warning system to drive as they normally would for 1 month. One-third of these subjects were age 60-70. In general, older drivers were likely to view the system favorably and the system improved safety for all drivers. Forward collision warning systems have not been tested specifically with drivers who are drowsy.

#### Lane Departure Warning

Lane departure warning (LDW) systems are designed to help drivers avoid drifting off the road by providing a warning to the driver when the vehicle moves over a dashed or solid lane edge boundary without the use of a lane-change signal (LeBlanc et al., 2006). LDW systems use cameras pointed at the roadway on each side of the vehicle and video-analysis software to determine the vehicle's lane position. Alerts are usually directionally-linked so that a drift to the right is accompanied by a light, sound, or seat vibration in the right portion of the vehicle. A simulator study in Germany investigated whether an LDW system could help prevent drowsy-driving crashes (Rimini-Doering et al., 2005). After eating a rich meal, 63 healthy young males drove the simulator for up to 2.5 hours on a route with little stimulation. Collectively, the drivers had several hundred micro-sleep episodes. The study found that when using the LDW system, there was a significant reduction in the number, time, length, and area of lane departure events. There also seem to be safety benefits when LDW systems are used in natural driving. In an investigation of 78 people (26 of whom were age 60-70) in Michigan using a LDW system in over 83,000 miles of driving, LeBlanc et al. (2006) found that the system induced drivers to stay closer to the center of the lane, use their turn signals more often when changing lanes, and reduced the frequency of lane excursions. People also liked the system. A LDW system would have great benefit for older drivers, particularly those who are taking medications that can produce drowsiness.

### Conclusions

This review documents several causes and correlates of drowsy driving. Drowsiness while driving may be due to monotonous roadways, lifestyle choices, working long, rotating, or night shifts, personality traits such as neuroticism and extraversion, circadian rhythm effects (e.g. driving between midnight and 6:00 AM), consuming alcohol, sleep disorders and deprivation, medications and various medical conditions. Each of these factors has been found to be a risk factor for sleepiness and/or drowsy driving, but most studies were conducted on young to middle-aged adults. More research is needed to determine to what extent these factors affect older drivers.

Methods also exist that individuals can use in an attempt to counteract drowsiness while driving. Those sleepy while behind the wheel often fight the sleepiness by turning up the stereo or rolling down the window, yet these methods have been found to be ineffective. Should individuals feel drowsy while driving, this review found that the best practice is to stop driving and get some sleep. If this is not possible, drinking caffeine and/or stopping for a short nap, can help to alleviate sleepiness. Alertness-maintaining tasks, such as interacting via speech with an in-vehicle device, can also help drivers improve alertness and decrease crash risk. In-vehicle drowsiness-detection technologies that warn drivers before they experience a crash have been tested and may be beneficial to drivers. All of these countermeasures may help to counter drowsiness and decrease crash risk; however, studies have mostly been performed on younger subjects. More research is needed to better understand the effectiveness of these countermeasures on older drivers.

Drivers aware of their potential daytime drowsiness can seek treatments to prevent being sleepy behind the wheel. Those suffering from drowsiness-inducing medical conditions may be able to reduce their daytime sleepiness with certain medication. Nasal continuous positive airway pressure can reduce the number of crashes that sleep apnea patients experience. Certain medications can help reduce drowsiness for other sleep disorders as well; dopaminergic medications have been found to help restless leg syndrome patients, eszopiclone can improve the sleep quality in insomnia patients, and modafinil can reduce EDS in narcoleptics. Treatment becomes even more effective when combining medications with proper sleep hygiene (e.g. taking scheduled naps), leading to improvement in individuals' alertness. Bright-light therapy (to adjust the circadian rhythm) can help to reduce drowsiness while driving for shift workers. Napping before work can help shiftworkers as well, but may not be effective for medical staff napping mid-shift. Exercise regimens and soothing music at bedtime were found to improve the sleep quality of older adults. Though these countermeasures are promising for older adults regarding sleep quality and EDS, more research is needed on this population to better understand if certain medications, exercise, napping, and music translate to decreased risk of drowsy driving.

Drowsiness is caused by many different factors and situations, and can be combated in different ways. Research has shown that sleep disorders, medical conditions and medications, shift work, circadian rhythm, personality traits, alcohol use and lifestyle choices to be causes of daytime sleepiness and could lead to a drowsy driving crash. However, the vast majority of studies have been conducted on younger or middle-aged adults. Clearly, older drivers are at a special risk; older adults are more prone than younger adults to experience drowsiness from numerous medical conditions and medications in addition to possible circadian rhythm effects, abnormal work schedules, roadway conditions, and other sleepiness causes. The co-presence of causes and correlates of drowsiness in individuals may put anyone at risk, but the risk is likely increased for older drivers. Therefore more research is needed on these areas and the countermeasures that may be most effective for the older adult population. Although medications and other treatments have been shown to improve the sleep quality of older adults, research is needed to determine whether these treatments result in a decreased risk of a drowsy driving crash. Understanding the prevalence of drowsy driving among older adults, and the causes and correlates of drowsy driving in this

population, is imperative for developing effective measures that reduce the chances of a drowsy driving crash among older drivers.

## References

- Adachi, K., Kobayashi, F., Itoh, M., Yamasaki, H., Nakano, T., Tsugawa, S., & Yamamoto, S. (2007). A driving simulator with driver monitor system. *Systems and Computers in Japan*, 38(10), 69-80. doi: 10.1002/scj.20469
- Akerstedt, T., Ingre, M., Kecklund, G., Anund, A., Sandberg, D., Wahde, M., . . . Kronberg, P. (2010). Reaction of sleepiness indicators to partial sleep deprivation, time of day and time on task in a driving simulator--the DROWSI project. *J Sleep Res*, 19(2), 298-309. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2009.00796.x
- Akerstedt, T., Nordin, M., Alfredsson, L., Westerholm, P., & Kecklund, G. (2010). Sleep and sleepiness: impact of entering or leaving shiftwork--a prospective study. *Chronobiol Int*, 27(5), 987-996. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2010.489423
- Aldrich, M. S. (1989). Automobile accidents in patients with sleep disorders. *Sleep*, 12(6), 487-494.
- American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery. (2010). Antihistamines, Decongestants, and Cold Remedies. Retrieved from <u>http://www.entnet.org/HealthInformation/coldRemedies.cfm</u>
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine. (2008). Sleep Problems are More Likely as We Get Older. Retrieved from American Academy of Sleep Medicine website: <u>http://www.aasmnet.org/Articles.aspx?id=844</u>
- Anund, A., Kecklund, G., Peters, B., & Akerstedt, T. (2008). Driver sleepiness and individual differences in preferences for countermeasures. J Sleep Res, 17(1), 16-22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00633.x
- Arnedt, J. T., Wilde, G. J., Munt, P. W., & MacLean, A. W. (2000). Simulated driving performance following prolonged wakefulness and alcohol consumption: separate and combined contributions to impairment. *J Sleep Res*, 9(3), 233-241.
- Arnedt, J. T., Wilde, G. J. S., Munt, P. W., & MacLean, A. W. (2001). How do prolonged wakefulness and alcohol compare in the decrements they produce on a simulated driving task? *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 33(3), 337-344. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0001-4575(00)00047-6
- Baldock, M., Mathias, J., McLean, A., & Berndt, A. (2005, November 14-16). Self-reported medication use and on-road driving performance of older drivers. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference, New Zealand.
- Barbe, Pericas, J., Munoz, A., Findley, L., Anto, J. M., & Agusti, A. G. (1998). Automobile accidents in patients with sleep apnea syndrome. An epidemiological and mechanistic study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 158(1), 18-22.

- Barger, L. K., Cade, B. E., Ayas, N. T., Cronin, J. W., Rosner, B., Speizer, F. E., & Czeisler, C. A. (2005). Extended work shifts and the risk of motor vehicle crashes among interns. *N Engl J Med*, 352(2), 125-134. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa041401
- Basta, M., Lin, H. M., Pejovic, S., Sarrigiannidis, A., Bixler, E., & Vgontzas, A. N. (2008). Lack of regular exercise, depression, and degree of apnea are predictors of excessive daytime sleepiness in patients with sleep apnea: sex differences. J Clin Sleep Med, 4(1), 19-25.
- Berghaus, G., & Grass, H. (1997). *Concentration-effect relationship with benzodiazepine therapy*. Paper presented at the 14th International Conference on Alcohol, Drugs, and Traffic Safety, Annecy, France.
- Betts, T., Markman, D., Debenham, S., Mortiboy, D., & McKevitt, T. (1984). Effects of two antihistamine drugs on actual driving performance. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*, 288(6413), 281-282.
- Biggs, S. N., Smith, A., Dorrian, J., Reid, K., Dawson, D., van den Heuvel, C., & Baulk, S. (2007). Perception of simulated driving performance after sleep restriction and caffeine. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 63(6), 573-577. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.06.017
- Bixler, E. O., Vgontzas, A. N., Lin, H.-M., Calhoun, S. L., Vela-Bueno, A., & Kales, A. (2005). Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in a General Population Sample: The Role of Sleep Apnea, Age, Obesity, Diabetes, and Depression. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90(8), 4510-4515. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0035
- Bourguignon, C., Labyak, S. E., & Taibi, D. (2003). Investigating Sleep Disturbances in Adults With Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, *17*(5), 241-249.
- Boyle, J., Trick, L., Johnsen, S., Roach, J., & Rubens, R. (2008). Next-day cognition, psychomotor function, and driving-related skills following nighttime administration of eszopiclone. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 23(5), 385-397. doi: 10.1002/hup.936
- Broughton, R., Ghanem, Q., Hishikawa, Y., Sugita, Y., Nevsimalova, S., & Roth, B. (1981). Life effects of narcolepsy in 180 patients from North America, Asia and Europe compared to matched controls. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 8(4), 299-304.
- Caldwell, J. A. (2001). The impact of fatigue in air medical and other types of operations: A review of fatigue facts and potential countermeasures. *Air Medical Journal*, 20(1), 25-32. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s1067-991x(01)70076-4
- Chervin, R. D. (2000). Sleepiness, fatigue, tiredness, and lack of energy in obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*, *118*(2), 372-379.
- Classen, S., Horgas, A., Awadzi, K., Messinger-Rapport, B., Shechtman, O., & Joo, Y. (2008). Clinical predictors of older driver performance on a standardized road test. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 9(5), 456-462. doi: 10.1080/15389580802260026
- Clayton, A. B., Harvey, P. G., & Betts, T. A. (1977). The effects of two antidepressants, imipramine and viloxazine, upon driving performance. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 55(1), 9-12.
- Connor, J., Norton, R., Ameratunga, S., Robinson, E., Civil, I., Dunn, R., ... Jackson, R. (2002). Driver sleepiness and risk of serious injury to car occupants: population based case control study. *BMJ*, 324(7346), 1125. doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7346.1125

- Cotté, N., Meyer, J., & Coughlin, J. F. (2001). Older and Younger Drivers' Reliance on Collision Warning Systems. *Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 45, 277-280.
- Daley, M., Morin, C. M., LeBlanc, M., Grégoire, J. P., Savard, J., & Baillargeon, L. (2009). Insomnia and its relationship to health-care utilization, work absenteeism, productivity and accidents. *Sleep Medicine*, 10(4), 427-438. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2008.04.005
- de Castro Toledo Guimaraes, L. H., de Carvalho, L. B. C., Yanaguibashi, G., & do Prado, G. F. (2008). Physically active elderly women sleep more and better than sedentary women. *Sleep Medicine*, *9*(5), 488-493. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2007.06.009
- De Valck, E., & Cluydts, R. (2001). Slow-release caffeine as a countermeasure to driver sleepiness induced by partial sleep deprivation. *J Sleep Res*, *10*(3), 203-209.
- Dinges, D. F., & Grace, R. (1998). Final Report: Evaluation of Techniques for Ocular Measurement as an Index of Fatigue and as the Basis for Alertness Management Washington DC: Federal Highway Administration.
- Dingus, T. A., Hulse, M. C., Mollenhauer, M. A., Fleischman, R. N., McGehee, D. V., & Manakkal, N. (1997). Effects of age, system experience, and navigation technique on driving with an advanced traveler information system. *Hum Factors*, 39(2), 177-199.
- Drake, C., Roehrs, T., Breslau, N., Johnson, E., Jefferson, C., Scofield, H., & Roth, T. (2010). The 10-year risk of verified motor vehicle crashes in relation to physiologic sleepiness. *Sleep*, 33(6), 745-752.
- Drapeau, C., Hamel-HÉBert, I., Robillard, R., Selmaoui, B., Filipini, D., & Carrier, J. (2006). Challenging sleep in aging: the effects of 200 mg of caffeine during the evening in young and middle-aged moderate caffeine consumers. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 15(2), 133-141. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2006.00518.x
- Duke, J., Guest, M., & Boggess, M. (2010). Age-related safety in professional heavy vehicle drivers: A literature review. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(2), 364-371. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2009.09.026
- Earley, C. J., & Silber, M. H. (2010). Restless legs syndrome: Understanding its consequences and the need for better treatment. *Sleep Medicine*, 11(9), 807-815. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.07.007
- Eby, D. W., Molnar, L. J., & Kartje, P. (2009). *Maintaining Safe Mobility in an Aging Society*. New York: CRC Press.
- Ervin, R. D., Sayer, J., LeBlanc, D., Bogard, S., Mefford, M., Hagan, M., . . . Winkler, C. (2005). Automotive Collision Avoidance System Field Operational Test Report: Methodology and Results. Washington, D.C.
- Fairclough, S. H., & Graham, R. (1999). Impairment of driving performance caused by sleep deprivation or alcohol: a comparative study. *Hum Factors*, *41*(1), 118-128.
- Findley, L., Smith, C., Hooper, J., Dineen, M., & Suratt, P. M. (2000). Treatment with nasal CPAP decreases automobile accidents in patients with sleep apnea. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 161(3 Pt 1), 857-859.
- Findley, L., Suratt, P., & Dinges, D. (1999). Time-on-task decrements in "steer clear" performance of patients with sleep apnea and narcolepsy. *Sleep*, 22(6), 804-809.
- Findley, L., Unverzagt, M., Guchu, R., Fabrizio, M., Buckner, J., & Suratt, P. (1995). Vigilance and automobile accidents in patients with sleep apnea or narcolepsy. *Chest*, 108(3), 619-624.

- Findley, L., Unverzagt, M., & Suratt, P. (1988). Automobile accidents involving patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 138(2), 337-340.
- Foley, D., Ancoli-Israel, S., Britz, P., & Walsh, J. (2004). Sleep disturbances and chronic disease in older adults: Results of the 2003 National Sleep Foundation Sleep in America Survey. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 56(5), 497-502. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.02.010
- Foley, D., Monjan, A. A., Brown, S. L., Simonsick, E. M., Wallace, R. B., & Blazer, D. G. (1995). Sleep complaints among elderly persons: an epidemiologic study of three communities. *Sleep*, 18(6), 425-432.
- Gengo, F., Gabos, C., & Miller, J. K. (1989). The pharmacodynamics of diphenhydramineinduced drowsiness and changes in mental performance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 45(1), 15-21.
- George, C. F., Boudreau, A. C., & Smiley, A. (1997). Effects of nasal CPAP on simulated driving performance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. *Thorax*, *52*(7), 648-653.
- George, C. F., Nickerson, P. W., Hanly, P. J., Millar, T. W., & Kryger, M. H. (1987). Sleep apnoea patients have more automobile accidents. *Lancet*, 2(8556), 447.
- Gershon, P., Ronen, A., Oron-Gilad, T., & Shinar, D. (2009). The effects of an interactive cognitive task (ICT) in suppressing fatigue symptoms in driving. *Transportation Research Part F-Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 12*(1), 21-28. doi: 10.1016/j.trf.2008.06.004
- Gnardellis, C., Tzamalouka, G., Papadakaki, M., & Chliaoutakis, J. E. (2008). An investigation of the effect of sleepiness, drowsy driving, and lifestyle on vehicle crashes. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 11(4), 270-281. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2008.01.002
- Golicki, D., Bala, M. M., Niewada, M., & Wierzbicka, A. (2010). Modafinil for narcolepsy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Med Sci Monit*, *16*(8), RA177-186.
- Grace, R. (2001). *Drowsy Driver Monitor and Warning System*. Paper presented at the International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design. <u>http://www.ri.cmu.edu/publication\_view.html?pub\_id=3792</u>
- Gurwitz, J. H. (2004). Polypharmacy A new paradigm for quality drug therapy in the elderly? *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *164*(18), 1957-1959.
- Haq, I. Z., Naidu, Y., Reddy, P., & Chaudhuri, K. R. (2010). Narcolepsy in Parkinsons disease. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 10, 879-884. doi: 10.1586/ern.10.56
- Haraldsson, P. O., Carenfelt, C., Diderichsen, F., Nygren, Å., & Tingvall, C. (1990). Clinical Symptoms of Sleep Apnea Syndrome and Automobile Accidents. *ORL*, *52*(1), 57-62.
- Hartley, L., Horberry, T., Mabbott, N., & Krueger, G. P. (2000). Review of Fatigue Detection and Prediction Technologies: National Road Transport Commission.
- Hayashi, M., Masuda, A., & Hori, T. (2003). The alerting effects of caffeine, bright light and face washing after a short daytime nap. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 114(12), 2268-2278. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(03)00255-4
- Helmus, T., Rosenthal, L., Bishop, C., Roehrs, T., Syron, M. L., & Roth, T. (1997). The alerting effects of short and long naps in narcoleptic, sleep deprived, and alert individuals. *Sleep*, 20(4), 251-257.

- Hemmelgarn, B., Suissa, S., Huang, A., Jean-Francois, B., & Pinard, G. (1997). Benzodiazepine Use and the Risk of Motor Vehicle Crash in the Elderly. *JAMA*, 278(1), 27-31. doi: 10.1001/jama.1997.03550010041037
- Hindmarch, I. (1988). The psychopharmacological approach: effects of psychotropic drugs on car handling. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol, 3 Suppl 1*, 73-79.
- Hirata, Y., Nishiyama, J., & Kinoshita, S. (2009). Detection and prediction of drowsiness by reflexive eye movements. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, 2009, 4015-4018. doi: 10.1109/iembs.2009.5333504
- Horne, J., & Baumber, C. J. (1991). Time-of-day effects of alcohol intake on simulated driving performance in women. *Ergonomics*, *34*(11), 1377-1383.
- Horne, J., & Reyner, L. (1995). Sleep related vehicle accidents. BMJ, 310(6979), 565-567.
- Horne, J., & Reyner, L. (1999). Vehicle accidents related to sleep: a review. *Occup Environ Med*, *56*(5), 289-294.
- Horne, J., & Reyner, L. (2001). Beneficial effects of an "energy drink" given to sleepy drivers. *Amino Acids*, 20(1), 83-89. doi: 10.1007/s007260170068
- Horne, J., Reyner, L., & Barrett, P. (2003). Driving impairment due to sleepiness is exacerbated by low alcohol intake. *Occup Environ Med*, 60(9), 689-692.
- Horstmann, S., Hess, C. W., Bassetti, C., Gugger, M., & Mathis, J. (2000). Sleepiness-related accidents in sleep apnea patients. *Sleep*, 23(3), 383-389.
- Howard, M. E., Desai, A. V., Grunstein, R. R., Hukins, C., Armstrong, J. G., Joffe, D., ... Pierce, R. J. (2004). Sleepiness, Sleep-disordered Breathing, and Accident Risk Factors in Commercial Vehicle Drivers. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 170(9), 1014-1021. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200312-1782OC
- Hu, S., Bowlds, R. L., Gu, Y., & Yu, X. (2009). Pulse wave sensor for non-intrusive driver's drowsiness detection. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, 2009, 2312-2315. doi: 10.1109/iembs.2009.5335036
- Internet Drug News Inc. (2007). Antidepressant Drug Database: Information on Antidepressants Used to Treat Clinical Depression, from <u>http://www.coreynahman.com/antidepressantdrugsdatabase.html</u>
- Jones, R. K., Shinar, D., & Walsh, J. M. (2003). State of Knowledge of Drug-Impaired Driving. Washington, D.C.
- Judd, L. L. (1985). The effect of antipsychotic drugs on driving and driving related psychomotor functions. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 17(4), 319-322. doi: Doi: 10.1016/0001-4575(85)90033-8
- King, A. C., Oman, R. F., Brassington, G. S., Bliwise, D. L., & Haskell, W. L. (1997). Moderate-intensity exercise and self-rated quality of sleep in older adults. A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 277(1), 32-37.
- Kirisoglu, C., & Guilleminault, C. (2004). Twenty minutes versus forty-five minutes morning bright light treatment on sleep onset insomnia in elderly subjects. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 56(5), 537-542. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.02.005
- Kotterba, S., Mueller, N., Leidag, M., Widdig, W., Rasche, K., Malin, J.-P., ... Orth, M. (2004). Comparison of driving simulator performance and neuropsychological testing in Narcolepsy. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, *106*(4), 275-279. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2003.12.003

- Kramer, A. F., Cassavaugh, N., Horrey, W. J., Becic, E., & Mayhugh, J. L. (2007). Influence of age and proximity warning devices on collision avoidance in simulated driving. *Hum Factors*, 49(5), 935-949.
- Kushida, C. A. (2006). Countermeasures for sleep loss and deprivation. *Curr Treat Options Neurol*, *8*(5), 361-366.
- Lai, H. L., & Good, M. (2005). Music improves sleep quality in older adults. *J Adv Nurs*, 49(3), 234-244. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03281.x
- LeBlanc, D., Sayer, J., Winkler, C., Ervin, R., Bogard, S., Devonshire, J., . . . Gordon, T. (2006). Road Departure Crash Warning System Field Operational Test: Methodology and Results. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute.
- Leechawengwongs, M., Leechawengwongs, E., Sukying, C., & Udomsubpayakul, U. (2006). Role of drowsy driving in traffic accidents: a questionnaire survey of Thai commercial bus/truck drivers. *J Med Assoc Thai*, 89(11), 1845-1850.
- Leger, D., Guilleminault, C., Bader, G., Levy, E., & Paillard, M. (2002). Medical and socioprofessional impact of insomnia. *Sleep*, *25*(6), 625-629.
- Leger, D., Philip, P., Jarriault, P., Metlaine, A., & Choudat, D. (2009). Effects of a combination of napping and bright light pulses on shift workers' sleepiness at the wheel: a pilot study. *J Sleep Res*, 18(4), 472-479. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00676.x
- Leufkens, T. R., & Vermeeren, A. (2009). Highway driving in the elderly the morning after bedtime use of hypnotics: a comparison between temazepam 20 mg, zopiclone 7.5 mg, and placebo. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, 29(5), 432-438. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e3181b57b43
- Leveille, S. G., Büchner, D. M., Koepsell, T. D., McCloskey, L. W., Wolf, M. E., & Wagner, E. H. (1994). Psychoactive Medications and Injurious Motor Vehicle Collisions Involving Older Drivers. *Epidemiology*, 5(6), 591-598.
- Li, F., Fisher, K. J., Harmer, P., Irbe, D., Tearse, R. G., & Weimer, C. (2004). Tai chi and self-rated quality of sleep and daytime sleepiness in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52(6), 892-900. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52255.x
- Liguori, A., & Robinson, J. H. (2001). Caffeine antagonism of alcohol-induced driving impairment. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *63*(2), 123-129. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0376-8716(00)00196-4
- Lococo, K. H., & Staplin, L. (2006). Literature Review of Polypharmacy and Older Drivers : Identifying Strategies to Collect Drug Usage and Driving Functioning Among Older Drivers. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- Lopez, M. A. (2010). Older Adults and Insomnia Resource Guide. Retrieved from American Psychological Association website: http://www.apa.org/pi/aging/resources/guides/insomnia.aspx
- Louwerens, J. W., Brookhuis, K. A., & O'Hanlon, J. F. (1984). The Effects of the Antidepressants Oxaprotiline, Mianserin, Amitryptiline and Doxepin Upon Actual Driving Performance. Groningen, Netherlands: University of Groningen Traffic Research Center.

- Lyznicki, J. M., Doege, T. C., Davis, R. M., Williams, M. A., & for the Council on Scientific Affairs, A. M. A. (1998). Sleepiness, Driving, and Motor Vehicle Crashes. JAMA, 279(23), 1908-1913. doi: 10.1001/jama.279.23.1908
- Macchi, M. M., Boulos, Z., Ranney, T., Simmons, L., & Campbell, S. S. (2002). Effects of an afternoon nap on nighttime alertness and performance in long-haul drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 34(6), 825-834. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0001-4575(01)00089-6
- Maltz, M., & Shinar, D. (2004). Imperfect in-vehicle collision avoidance warning systems can aid drivers. *Hum Factors*, 46(2), 357-366.
- Marcus, C. L., & Loughlin, G. M. (1996). Effect of sleep deprivation on driving safety in housestaff. Sleep, 19(10), 763-766.
- Mastin, D. F., Peszka, J., Poling, T., Phillips, R., & Duke, J. (2005). Personality as a predictor of the objective and subjective impact of sleep deprivation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 39(8), 1471-1482. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.08.007
- May, J. F., & Baldwin, C. L. (2009). Driver fatigue: The importance of identifying causal factors of fatigue when considering detection and countermeasure technologies. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 12*(3), 218-224. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2008.11.005
- Maycock, G. (1997). Sleepiness and driving: the experience of heavy goods vehicle drivers in the UK. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *6*(4), 238-244. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.1997.00238.x
- McCartt, A. T., Ribner, S. A., Pack, A. I., & Hammer, M. C. (1996). The scope and nature of the drowsy driving problem in New York state. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 28(4), 511-517. doi: Doi: 10.1016/0001-4575(96)00021-8
- McCartt, A. T., Rohrbaugh, J. W., Hammer, M. C., & Fuller, S. Z. (2000). Factors associated with falling asleep at the wheel among long-distance truck drivers. *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention*, 32(4), 493-504. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0001-4575(99)00067-6
- McGwin, G., Sims, R. V., Pulley, L., & Roseman, J. M. (2000). Relations among Chronic Medical Conditions, Medications, and Automobile Crashes in the Elderly: A Population-based Case-Control Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 152(5), 424-431. doi: 10.1093/aje/152.5.424
- MedlinePlus. (2010). Antidepressants, from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/antidepressants.html
- Meindorfner, C., Körner, Y., Möller, J. C., Stiasny-Kolster, K., Oertel, W. H., & Krüger, H.-P. (2005). Driving in Parkinson's disease: Mobility, accidents, and sudden onset of sleep at the wheel. *Movement Disorders*, 20(7), 832-842. doi: 10.1002/mds.20412
- Meskali, M., Berthelon, C., Marie, S., Denise, P., & Bocca, M.-L. (2009). Residual effects of hypnotic drugs in aging drivers submitted to simulated accident scenarios: an exploratory study. *Psychopharmacology*, 207(3), 461-467. doi: 10.1007/s00213-009-1677-2
- Miyata, S., Noda, A., Ozaki, N., Hara, Y., Minoshima, M., Iwamoto, K., . . . Koike, Y. (2010). Insufficient sleep impairs driving performance and cognitive function. *Neurosci Lett*, 469(2), 229-233. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.12.001
- Möller, J. C., Körner, Y., Cassel, W., Meindorfner, C., Krüger, H.-P., Oertel, W. H., & Stiasny-Kolster, K. (2006). Sudden onset of sleep and dopaminergic therapy in

patients with restless legs syndrome. *Sleep Medicine*, 7(4), 333-339. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2005.08.009

- Moskowitz, H., & Smiley, A. (1982). Effects of chronically administered buspirone and diazepam on driving-related skills performance. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 43(12 Pt 2), 45-55.
- Nakra, B. R., Gfeller, J. D., & Hassan, R. (1992). A double-blind comparison of the effects of temazepam and triazolam on residual, daytime performance in elderly insomniacs. *Int Psychogeriatr*, *4*(1), 45-53.
- National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. (2010). What Is Sleep Apnea? Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/SleepApnea/SleepApnea\_WhatIs.html
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2006?). Drowsy Driving and Automobile Crashes.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (n.d.). Research on Drowsy Driving, from <u>http://www.nhtsa.gov/Driving+Safety/Distracted+Driving/Research+on+Drowsy+Driving</u>
- National Institute of General Medical Sciences. (2010). Circadian Rhythms Fact Sheet. Retrieved from

http://www.nigms.nih.gov/publications/factsheet\_circadianrhythms.htm

- National Institute of Mental Health. (2008). Mental Health Medications.
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. (2007). Brain Basics: Understanding Sleep. Retrieved from

http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/brain\_basics/understanding\_sleep.htm#sleep\_disorders

National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. (2010). Narcolepsy Fact Sheet. Retrieved from

http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/narcolepsy/detail\_narcolepsy.htm#139493201

- National Sleep Foundation. (2005). 2005 Sleep in America Poll Summary of Findings. Washington, D.C.
- National Sleep Foundation. (2009). How Much Sleep Do We Really Need? Retrieved from <u>http://www.sleepfoundation.org/article/how-sleep-works/how-much-sleep-do-we-really-need</u>
- National Sleep Foundation. (2010). Who's at Risk? Retrieved November 30, 2010, from http://drowsydriving.org/about/whos-at-risk/
- Neubauer, D. N. (1999). Sleep problems in the elderly. *Am Fam Physician*, 59(9), 2551-2558, 2559-2560.
- Neutel, C. I. (1995). Risk of traffic accident injury after a prescription for a benzodiazepine. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 5(3), 239-244. doi: Doi: 10.1016/1047-2797(94)00112-7
- Nguyen, L. T., Jauregui, B., & Dinges, D. F. (1998). Changing behaviors to prevent drowsy driving and promote traffic safety: review of proven, promising, and unproven techniques: University of Pennsylvania.
- Nicholson, A. N. (1986). Hypnotics and transient insomnia. In J.F. O'Hanlon & J. J. d. Gier (Eds.), *Drugs and Driving*. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Taylor & Francis Ltd.
- Nokes, K. M., Chidekel, J. H., & Kendrew, J. (1999). Exploring the Complexity of Sleep Disturbances in Persons With HIV/AIDS. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS care*, 10(3), 22-29. doi: 10.1016/s1055-3290(05)60117-3
- O'Hanlon, J. F., Haak, T. W., Blaauw, G. J., & Riemersma, J. B. (1982). Diazepam impairs lateral position control in highway driving. *Science*, *217*(4554), 79-81.

- O'Hanlon, J. (1992). Discussion of "Medications and the Safety of the Older Driver" by Ray et al. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, 34, 49-51.
- Ogilvie, R. D., Wilkinson, R. T., & Allison, S. (1989). The Detection of Sleep Onset -Behavioral, Physiological and Subjective Convergence. *Sleep*, *12*(5), 458-474.
- Ohayon, M. M., Caulet, M., Philip, P., Guilleminault, C., & Priest, R. G. (1997). How Sleep and Mental Disorders Are Related to Complaints of Daytime Sleepiness. *Arch Intern Med*, 157(22), 2645-2652. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1997.00440430127015
- Ohayon, M. M., Smolensky, M. H., & Roth, T. (2010). Consequences of shiftworking on sleep duration, sleepiness, and sleep attacks. *Chronobiol Int*, 27(3), 575-589. doi: 10.3109/07420521003749956
- Ondo, W. G., Dat Vuong, K., Khan, H., Atassi, F., Kwak, C., & Jankovic, J. (2001). Daytime sleepiness and other sleep disorders in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology*, 57(8), 1392-1396.
- Oron-Gilad, T., Ronen, A., & Shinar, D. (2008). Alertness maintaining tasks (AMTs) while driving. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 40(3), 851-860. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2007.09.026
- Otmani, S., Pebayle, T., Roge, J., & Muzet, A. (2005). Effect of driving duration and partial sleep deprivation on subsequent alertness and performance of car drivers. *Physiology* & *Behavior*, 84(5), 715-724. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.02.021
- Pack, A. I., Pack, A. M., Rodgman, E., Cucchiara, A., Dinges, D. F., & Schwab, C. W. (1995). Characteristics of crashes attributed to the driver having fallen asleep. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 27(6), 769-775. doi: Doi: 10.1016/0001-4575(95)00034-8
- Pallesen, S., Bjorvatn, B., Mageroy, N., Saksvik, I. B., Waage, S., & Moen, B. E. (2010). Measures to counteract the negative effects of night work. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 36(2), 109-120.
- Papadakaki, M., Kontogiannis, T., Tzamalouka, G., Darviri, C., & Chliaoutakis, J. (2008). Exploring the effects of lifestyle, sleep factors and driving behaviors on sleep-related road risk: A study of Greek drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 40(6), 2029-2036. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2008.08.019
- Parish, J. M. (2009). Sleep-related problems in common medical conditions. *Chest*, 135(2), 563-572. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-0934
- Partinen, M., Hirvonen, K., Hublin, C., Halavaara, M., & Hiltunen, H. (2003). Effects of after-midnight intake of zolpidem and temazepam on driving ability in women with non-organic insomnia. *Sleep Medicine*, 4(6), 553-561. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2003.06.005
- Peters, R. D., Kloeppel, E., Alicandri, E., Fox, J. E., Thomas, M. L., Thorne, D. R., . . . Balwinski, S. M. (1995). Effects of Partial and Total Sleep Deprivation on Driving Performance. *Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 39, 935-935.
- Philip, P., Ghorayeb, I., Leger, D., Menny, J. C., Bioulac, B., Dabadie, P., & Guilleminault, C. (1997). Objective measurement of sleepiness in summer vacation long-distance drivers. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *102*(5), 383-389. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0921-884x(96)96511-x

- Philip, P., Ghorayeb, I., Stoohs, R., Menny, J. C., Dabadie, P., Bioulac, B., & Guilleminault, C. (1996). Determinants of sleepiness in automobile drivers. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 41(3), 279-288. doi: Doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(96)00127-4
- Philip, P., Sagaspe, P., Lagarde, E., Leger, D., Ohayon, M. M., Bioulac, B., . . . Taillard, J. (in press). Sleep disorders and accidental risk in a large group of regular registered highway drivers. *Sleep Medicine, In Press, Corrected Proof.* doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.07.010
- Philip, P., Sagaspe, P., Moore, N., Taillard, J., Charles, A., Guilleminault, C., & Bioulac, B. (2005). Fatigue, sleep restriction and driving performance. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 37(3), 473-478. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2004.07.007
- Philip, P., Sagaspe, P., Taillard, J., Chaumet, G., Bayon, V., Coste, O., . . . Guilleminault, C. (2008). Maintenance of Wakefulness Test, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, and driving risk. *Ann Neurol*, 64(4), 410-416. doi: 10.1002/ana.21448
- Philip, P., Taillard, J., Sagaspe, P., Valtat, C., Sanchez-Ortuno, M., Moore, N., . . . Bioulac, B. (2004). Age, performance and sleep deprivation. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 13(2), 105-110. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2004.00399.x
- Powell, N. B., Schechtman, K. B., Riley, R. W., Li, K., Troell, R., & Guilleminault, C. (2001). The Road to Danger: The Comparative Risks of Driving While Sleepy. *The Laryngoscope*, 111(5), 887-893. doi: 10.1097/00005537-200105000-00024
- Ramaekers, J. G. (2003). Antidepressants and driver impairment: empirical evidence from a standard on-the-road test. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 64(1), 20-29.
- Ray, W. A., Fought, R. L., & Decker, M. D. (1992). Psychoactive Drugs and the Risk of Injurious Motor Vehicle Crashes in Elderly Drivers. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 136(7), 873-883. doi: 10.1093/aje/136.7.873
- Ray, W. A., Thapa, P. B., & Shorr, R. I. (1993). Medications and the older driver. *Clin Geriatr Med*, 9(2), 413-438.
- Reid, K. J., Baron, K. G., Lu, B., Naylor, E., Wolfe, L., & Zee, P. C. (2010). Aerobic exercise improves self-reported sleep and quality of life in older adults with insomnia. *Sleep Medicine*, 11(9), 934-940. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.04.014
- Reimer, B., D'Ambrosio, L. A., Coughlin, J. F., Fried, R., & Biederman, J. (2007). Task-Induced Fatigue and Collisions in Adult Drivers with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 8(3), 290 - 299.
- Reyner, L. A., & Horne, J. A. (1997). Suppression of sleepiness in drivers: combination of caffeine with a short nap. *Psychophysiology*, *34*(6), 721-725.
- Reyner, L. A., & Horne, J. A. (1998). Evaluation "in-car" countermeasures to sleepiness: cold air and radio. *Sleep*, *21*(1), 46-50.
- Reyner, L. A., & Horne, J. A. (2000). Early morning driver sleepiness: effectiveness of 200 mg caffeine. *Psychophysiology*, *37*(2), 251-256.
- Rimini-Doering, M., Altmueller, T., Ladstaetter, U., & Rossmeier, M. (2005). Effects of Lane Departure Warning on Drowsy Drivers' Performance and State in a Simulator. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 3rd International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training, and Vehicle Design,, Rockport, Maine.
- Roehrs, T., Beare, D., Zorick, F., & Roth, T. (1994). Sleepiness and Ethanol Effects on Simulated Driving. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 18(1), 154-158. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1994.tb00896.x

- Rogers, A. E., Aldrich, M. S., & Lin, X. (2001). A comparison of three different sleep schedules for reducing daytime sleepiness in narcolepsy. *Sleep*, 24(4), 385-391.
- Roszkowska, J., & Geraci, S. A. Management of Insomnia in the Geriatric Patient. *The American Journal of Medicine, In Press, Corrected Proof.* doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2010.04.006
- Roth, T. (2007). Insomnia: definition, prevalence, etiology, and consequences. *J Clin Sleep Med*, *3*(5 Suppl), S7-10.
- Royal, D. (2003). National Survey of Distracted and Drowsy Driving. Washington, D.C.
- Sadeghniiat-Haghighi, K., Yazdi, Z., Jahanihashemi, H., & Aminian, O. (2010). The effect of bright light on sleepiness among rapid-rotating 12-hour shift workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health*.
- Sanders, A. F. (1986). Drugs, driving and the measurement of human performance. In J.F. O'Hanlon & J. J. D. Gier (Eds.), *Drugs and Driving*. Basingstoke, UK: Taylor & Francis Ltd.
- Sassani, A., Findley, L. J., Kryger, M., Goldlust, E., George, C., & Davidson, T. M. (2004). Reducing Motor-Vehicle Collisions, Costs, and Fatalities by Treating Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome. *Sleep*, 27(03), 453-458.
- Sato, T., Kubo, T., Ebara, T., Takeyama, H., Inoue, T., Iwanishi, M., . . . Kamijima, M. (2010). Brief hourly exercise during night work can help maintain workers' performance. *Ind Health*, 48(4), 470-477.
- Schweitzer, P. K., Randazzo, A. C., Stone, K., Erman, M., & Walsh, J. K. (2006). Laboratory and field studies of naps and caffeine as practical countermeasures for sleep-wake problems associated with night work. *Sleep*, 29(1), 39-50.
- Scott, L. D., Hofmeister, N., Rogness, N., & Rogers, A. E. (2010). An Interventional Approach for Patient and Nurse Safety: A Fatigue Countermeasures Feasibility Study. *Nursing Research*, 59(4), 250-258 210.1097/NNR.1090b1013e3181de9116.
- Scott, L. D., Hwang, W. T., Rogers, A. E., Nysse, T., Dean, G. E., & Dinges, D. F. (2007). The relationship between nurse work schedules, sleep duration, and drowsy driving. *Sleep*, 30(12), 1801-1807.
- Seppala, T., Linnoila, M., Elonen, E., Mattila, M. J., & Maki, M. (1975). Effect of tricyclic antidepressants and alcohol in psychomotor skills related to driving. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 17(5), 515-522.
- Shiomi, T., Arita, A. T., Sasanabe, R., Banno, K., Yamakawa, H., Hasegawa, R., . . . Ito, A. (2002). Falling asleep while driving and automobile accidents among patients with obstructive sleep apnea–hypopnea syndrome. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 56(3), 333-334. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1819.2002.01004.x
- Sims, R. V., McGwin, G., Allman, R. M., Ball, K., & Owsley, C. (2000). Exploratory study of incident vehicle crashes among olderdrivers. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 55(1), M22-M27. doi: 10.1093/gerona/55.1.M22
- Smiley, A. (1987). Effects of minor tranquilizers and antidepressants on psychomotor performance. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 48 Suppl, 22-28.
- Smith-Coggins, R., Howard, S. K., Mac, D. T., Wang, C., Kwan, S., Rosekind, M. R., . . . Gaba, D. M. (2006). Improving Alertness and Performance in Emergency Department Physicians and Nurses: The Use of Planned Naps. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 48(5), 596-604.e593. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2006.02.005

- Smith, A., & Maben, A. (1993). Effects of sleep deprivation, lunch, and personality on performance, mood, and cardiovascular function. *Physiology & Behavior*, 54(5), 967-972. doi: Doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(93)90310-c
- Stiasny, K., Möller, J. C., & Oertel, W. H. (2000). Safety of pramipexole in patients with restless legs syndrome. *Neurology*, 55(10), 1589-1590.
- Stroe, A. F., Roth, T., Jefferson, C., Hudgel, D. W., Roehrs, T., Moss, K., & Drake, C. L. (2010). Comparative levels of excessive daytime sleepiness in common medical disorders. *Sleep Medicine*, 11(9), 890-896. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.04.010
- Stutts, J. C., Wilkins, J. W., Osberg, J. S., & Vaughn, B. V. (2003). Driver risk factors for sleep-related crashes. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 35(3), 321-331. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0001-4575(02)00007-6
- Summala, H., & Mikkola, T. (1994). Fatal accidents among car and truck drivers: effects of fatigue, age, and alcohol consumption. *Hum Factors*, *36*(2), 315-326.
- Takayama, L., & Nass, C. (2008). Assessing the Effectiveness of Interactive Media in Improving Drowsy Driver Safety. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, 50(5), 772-781. doi: 10.1518/001872008x312341
- Thiffault, P., & Bergeron, J. (2003a). Fatigue and individual differences in monotonous simulated driving. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(1), 159-176. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(02)00119-8
- Thiffault, P., & Bergeron, J. (2003b). Monotony of road environment and driver fatigue: a simulator study. *Accid Anal Prev*, *35*(3), 381-391.
- Ting, P.-H., Hwang, J.-R., Doong, J.-L., & Jeng, M.-C. (2008). Driver fatigue and highway driving: A simulator study. *Physiology & Behavior*, 94(3), 448-453. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.02.015
- US Drug Enforcement Administration. (n.d.). Benzodiazepines Retrieved November 2, 2010, from http://www.justice.gov/dea/concern/benzodiazepines.html
- van den Berg, J., & Landström, U. (2006). Symptoms of sleepiness while driving and their relationship to prior sleep, work and individual characteristics. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 9*(3), 207-226. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.trf.2006.01.001
- van Mill, J. G., Hoogendijk, W. J., Vogelzangs, N., van Dyck, R., & Penninx, B. W. (2010). Insomnia and sleep duration in a large cohort of patients with major depressive disorder and anxiety disorders. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 71(3), 239-246. doi: 10.4088/JCP.09m05218gry
- Vanlaar, W., Simpson, H., Mayhew, D., & Robertson, R. (2008). Fatigued and drowsy driving: A survey of attitudes, opinions and behaviors. *Journal of Safety Research*, 39, 303-309.
- Vaz Fragoso, C. A., Araujo, K. L., Van Ness, P. H., & Marottoli, R. A. (2008). Prevalence of sleep disturbances in a cohort of older drivers. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 63(7), 715-723.
- Verster, J. C., & Volkerts, E. R. (2004). Antihistamines and driving ability: evidence from on-the-road driving studies during normal traffic. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, 92(3), 294-304. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s1081-1206(10)61566-9
- Verwey, W. B., & Zaidel, D. M. (1999). Preventing drowsiness accidents by an alertness maintenance device. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 31(3), 199-211. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0001-4575(98)00062-1

- Verwey, W. B., & Zaidel, D. M. (2000). Predicting drowsiness accidents from personal attributes, eye blinks and ongoing driving behaviour. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28(1), 123-142. doi: Doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(99)00089-6
- Vgontzas, A. N., Bixler, E. O., Tan, T.-L., Kantner, D., Martin, L. F., & Kales, A. (1998). Obesity Without Sleep Apnea Is Associated With Daytime Sleepiness. Arch Intern Med, 158(12), 1333-1337. doi: 10.1001/archinte.158.12.1333
- Walsh, J. M., de Gier, J. J., Christopherson, A. S., & Verstraete, A. G. (2004). Drugs and driving. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 5(3), 241-253. doi: 10.1080/15389580490465292
- Wierwille, W. W., Lewin, M. G., & Fairbanks, R. J. (1996). Final Reports: Research on Vehicle-Based Driver Status/Performance Monitoring, Part III. Washignton DC: Federal Highway Administration.
- Wijesuriya, N., Tran, Y., & Craig, A. (2007). The psychophysiological determinants of fatigue. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 63(1), 77-86. doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2006.08.005
- Wilkinson, C. J., & Moskowitz, H. (2001). Polypharmacy & Older Drivers-Literature Review. Los Angeles, CA: Southern California Research Institute.
- Williams, S. J. (1931). The Accident Prone Driver. *Highway Research Board Proceedings*, 10, 247-253.
- Williamson, A. M., & Feyer, A. M. (2000). Moderate sleep deprivation produces impairments in cognitive and motor performance equivalent to legally prescribed levels of alcohol intoxication. *Occup Environ Med*, 57(10), 649-655.
- Wilson, R. J., Fang, M., Cooper, P. J., & Beirness, D. J. (2006). Sleepiness among night-time drivers: relationship to blood alcohol concentration and other factors. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 7(1), 15-22. doi: 10.1080/15389580500412929
- Wu, H., & Yan-Go, F. (1996). Self-reported automobile accidents involving patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Neurology*, 46(5), 1254-1257.
- Wylie, K. R., Thompson, D. J., & Wildgust, H. J. (1993). Effects of depot neuroleptics on driving performance in chronic schizophrenic patients. *Journal of Neurology*, *Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 56(8), 910-913. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.56.8.910